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Berrien County as originally laid out was taken from Irwin,
wowndes and Coffee Counties,

As first orszanized, its area was eleven hundred square
1iles.,

By the creation of Tift, Cook and Lanier Counties, largely
from its original territory, the area of the county is now (1937)
approximately three hundred square miles,

The legislative act of creating Berrien “ounty was passed
by the Legislature, February 25, 1856,

The Legislature appointed five marking commissioners--
William Roberts, Josiah Parrish, Cornelius Tyson, Jasper M. Luke,
and Owen Smith to fix the boundary lines of the new county.

. These boundary lines were fixed: On the North along the
northern lines of land lots, numbers 275, 276, 277, etc., in the
fifth and sixth districts, beginning at the eastern boundary of
Worth County and running east to Willacoochee Creek; on the east
by Willacoochee Creck and Alapaha Kiver; on the south by the
southern boundaries of the ninth and tenth land lot districts;
on the west by Little River and Worth County.

After laying out tie county by fixing its boundariess as
described above, the Legislative Commissioners met at Flat Creek
and orgsenized the territory thus marked out, by naming it Berrien
County and calling an election to elect eounty officers and a
representative to the State Legislature.

The clection was called to be held April 1, 1856, They
named the county Berrien in honor of John McPherson Berrien, a
notable Georgian.

The election returns were consolidated at Flat Creek and
resulted in naming the following officers:

John Lindsey, Ordinary; R. A. Pecples, Clerk; John ( Jack)
Studstill, Sheriff; John A. Money, Tax Receiver; John M. Futch,
Tax Collector; Seaborn J. Bradford, Surveyor; James Dobson,
Cornor; D. P, McDonald, Representative to the Legislature.

The Inferior Court

In conformity with the State Law, the Inferior Court was
established in Berrien County. The following citizens of the
county were elected to be the judges of this court: Martin Shaw,
William Koberts, Harmon Gaskins, Cornelius Tyson and James
Grifiin, S

The functions of the Inferior Court were tae workings of
the present County Soard of Education, The County Commissioners
and the County Court. (When County Court is in operation in the
County.) The judges of the Inferior Court were elected by the
voters of the County for a term of four years. This Court was
abolished by the Bullock Republican Kegime in the year 1868.
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Hlat Creck

Flat Creek was the precinct of the Flat Creek Militia District.

-t was situated four and one-half miles north of the present site
f Nashville, the county seat of Berrien County. It consisted of
a water grist mill, a cotton ginnery, a merchandise store, and a
Tnited States Post O0ffice named Flat Creek. The late William D,
Griffin, known as Dumps Griffin, was owner of the mill, ginnery
and store, and was also post master of the post offlce.

Berrien County was organized, the first election returns
consolidated, the county officials found elected by the consolide-
ation were given their commission, the Inferior Court organizocd
and the whole county macnlnery set in motion at Flat Creek on
the ténth day of June, 19506, by the five commissioners appointed
by the Legislature to lay off and organize the county.

The first session of the Superior Court held in Berrien
County was held November, 1856, at the residence of Mrs. Amy
Kirby, on the Coffee Read, one mile northeast of the present site
of Nashville, Judge P. £, Love was the judge and R. A. Peeples
was the clerks

The Grand Jury, at this session, recommended that the
Inferior Court purchase of Daniel Griner a portion of his farm
for a Court House Square, on which to build a Court House, The
present square is the land they bought. At that time Mr. Griner's
residence was situated on the northwsst corner of where the
square now is. Danicl Griner was a son of Emmanuel Griner, the
fecher of three sons---¥illiam, Samuel, and Daniel, also f ather
of Mrs, Rirby.

The Court Houmse

The Inferior Court appointed a Court House Committee to
draw plans and specifications for a Court House, This committee
was composed of James Griffin, Sr. (grandfather of the late W,
Henry Griffin), R. A. Peeples, and E. C. Morgan.

The Court also appointed a Building Committez, the personnel
cf which were William Lastlnger (father of the late Judge Lacy
E, Lastinger . of Adel), Mitehel S, Griffin, W. D. Griffin,
Henry T, ZPeeples (father of the late Judge Henry B. Peeples of
Eashville), and John Lindsey.

The Court House Committee submitted to the Inferior Court,
at its October, 1856, session, plans and specifications for a
two story building which the Court accepted, and then =dvertised
for construction bids. At its January, ltS?, seéssion uvhe Court
awvarded the construction of the buwldlng to Woodford J. Habry
for the sum of $2600,00. Joe liewbern was the chief carpenter
onn the construction of the buildinge.

On March 22, 1858, the Building Committee reported the
building finished and ready for occupancy. In their report to
the Inferior Court, ths Committee seid, "The workmanship in the
construction of tﬂ3 building exceeds our most sanguine
expectations.”
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The dimensions of the building were fifty by sixty feet
quare and twenty feet high,
ihe building served the County as a court house thirty-nine
re and was tinen removed to the east side of the Court House
ware by Dr. W, B. Goodman, to give space for the crection of
the present court house. It served the public as the Goodman
House and Hotel House for thirty more years more.
Dr. Goodman was a noted physician of Nashville-- rising from
poverty in youth to wealth in manhood.

The birth of Nashville is coincident with the laying out
of the presocnt public squsre and the pbuilding of the first court
nhouse. The village was named Nashville in honor of Simon Nash,

s noted antsbellum chair maker.

The Jail

The jail was a strong, but very erude structure. It was
situated near ths present residence of ‘'iss Henrietta Griffin,

The First School House

The first school house built in Nashville was erected in 1858,
The lay citizens and "he Masonic Fraternity of the village came
together in the dual cause of education and masonry and in unison
they constructed an up-to-date two-story edifice, the upper chamber
of which, they named the Duncan Masonic Lodge in honor of the
vonerable Duncan 0'Quin who resided four milss west of Hashville
in the now rearranged bsautiful county home of Dr. P. H. Askew,

The lower chamber was named the McPherson Academy in nonor
of Jonn McPherson Rerricn for whom Berrien County was named, as
before stated. :

The strect running north and south in front of the building
wss named McPherson Strecta :

The first teacher on this building was l[iiles lathis, an
able instructor in his day. He resigned to take part in the Civil
War between the States and was killed in that fratrieidal
struggle, This building served 1its people long and well until
replaced by the present Grammer School brick structure on
ad jacent ground, It was remodeled by J. H. #inderson for a dwelling
and is now ( 1937) in fine condition. It is at prcsent the property
of I.. L. Barr, an ex-Elder of the Nashville Methodist Church. The
oldest town in the orginial Berrien County, now in Lanier County,
is Lakeland., Lakcland was first called Alapaha--a trading post
between t e white people and the Creek Indians. For the convenience
of the early sttlers, the United States Government established a
post office at Alapaha.

About the yvear 1800 Joshua Lee, a2 noted pioneer of South
Georgia, built a grist-mill at the north outlet of Grand Bay, near
the 1little Alapaha hamlct.

Grand Bay is a very not:d South Georgia Bay having a north
and south outlet.
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Thers being no grist mill in reach &6f the early settlers of
this section, the neighbors of Mr, Leeo took their horse carts and
hauled dirt to build a dam across this outlet that they might
heve amill to grind their corn 8o as to have meal for bread. Thus
tine Lee~Lastinger-Banks Millpond, now known as Banks Lake, had
ite origin in dirt hauled in hosre carts by the neighbors of
Joshus Lec to obtain bread. Joshua Lee was the great uncle of
General iobert E. Lee, the great southern genecral of the Civil
War, The Lees, Registers, and Pattens of South Georgia are
closcidy pelatod To General Robert By Liec,

The proximity of the Lee Grist Mill to the little town of
Alapsha caused the people to change 1its name from Alapaha to
Milltown, which name it retained until recently when it was
changed to Lakeland because of its proximity to Banks Lake.
Lakeland is now the county scat &f Lanier County.

In the year 1820, Joshua Lec sold his possesseions to
William Lastinger. Mr. Lastinger greatly improved the mill
facilities by the installation of an up-to-date lumber mill, cotton
gins and machinery for carding wool and cotton rolls for spinning
thread with which to wzave cloth (by hand) for making clothes.

Mr, lLastinger operated this industry and also cngaged in
large farming intorests until the year 1863 when he sold his cntire
possessions to Henry Banks of Atlanta who grcaetly improved the
industry by introducing planing and flour mills.

Early Mcams and Modos of Travel and Conveyance

Mcans of travel and conveyanec in thc early days of the County
Werc: very erudes

The main thoroughfaros of this. section of the counbry before
the croation of Berrien County were the 0ld Coffee and Unions roads.
Thesc roads werec opencd by Legislative enactments about the year
1830, The entrance of the Coffee Road into row Berriocn Uounty was
2t the northecastern corner of larnd lot numbor 267 in the Fifth
district, end left the county just southwest of where the town
of Cecil in Cook County now is,

In traversimg the territory, now Berrien lounty, tho Coffee
Road crossced the Apapaha River at the Marsh Ferry, passed through
where Nashville is now situatcd and crossed the Withlacoochee
River where W, T, Futch now lives,

The 014 Union Road entered the territory of what is now Tift
County just north of where Tifton now is,

The Union Road passed along where Lenox, Sparks, Adel, Cecll,
and Valdosta now are situated. '

The termini of the 0ld Coffee were Jacksonville, Georgia on
he Ochmulgee River and St. Marks, Florida, on the gulf of Mexico.
The termini of the 0l1d Union Road were lacon, Georgia, and

t, Augustine, Florida,

Stage coaches for travelsrs, and wagons and other means of
travel and traffic traversed these roads and as thsre were few
bridges in those days, these mcans of thavel had to be forried
across largec streaws of water, hence the necessity for ferries

rogulated by laws,
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These two roads-- the Coffee and Unilon-~ were State Military
~ojects backed by the Feseral Government.

The Inferior Court having built the court house and domiciled
the various county offiecgirs in their proper apartments in the new
buildings, now turncd their attention to the laying out and
constructing of public roads in the county for the convenience
of the rapidly growing population.

The Fuplice
(1)

(2)

(L)

(5)

(6)

roads ware:

From Nashville northward to the Ilrwin
County line by the way of Flat Urececk,

the present site of Alapaha, the 01d
McMillan cementery, and crossing the
Alapaha River at the present site of

Lucy Lakc, continucd by the present

home of Hon. J. B. Parrineau to the

present site of Gladys &n the county line.
The Nashville and Milltown road south-

eaBt by the residence of John Clements,
father of Milly Clemonts, who now owns

the old homses.

From Milltown to the Alapaha River, com-
nseting with a public road to Magnolia=-
now Homerville, through the sottlemonts

of the Stricklands, Sirmonses, Fenders,

and Tomlinsons.

The Nashville and Indian Ford Road cast

by the present site of the Poplar Springs.
School to the Indian Ford on the &lapaha
River.

From Milltown northward to Tyscn Ferry

on the Alapaha River just esast of the
present site of Alapaha. This road

paases by the residence of the late

John Studatill, firat sheriff of Berrion
County, Now thc home of Joe Studstill,

Hig gong Steny Hill,; tne 6ld residenee

of the 3ates HMNostés (s Lee; Keeffec and
Bulloecks Turpentine still; the residence

of the lats J: H. Kowan, now the rasidences
of hias widow, lMrs. Phoebe Rowan, the
residence of the late #William Gaskinge=

the grandfathor of thce latc Alveh W,
Gaskins of Nashville.

A road from tue Lastinger Mills-- now Banks
Lake-=-cxtending westward and northwestward
to connect with the Troupeville Road at
Nashville, This road was decsignated to pass
the residence of J. T. Carroll (now cxtinect);
the residence of Isbén Giddsns--great-grand-
father of Fugenc Giddens, who now owns the
old home; the residence of Gensral Levi J.
Knight-- grandfather of Ex-Judge Jon Pe Knight
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of Nashville; the residence of John M.
Futch, first Tax Collector of Berrien
County, now the residence of his daughter,
Mrs, W. B. Allen; the residence of Ruben
Futch at the Bigz Pecan Tree, to the Troupe-
ville Road at Nashville. The termini of
the Troupeville Hoad were Flat Creek on
the north and Troupcville (the first county
seat of Lowndss County) on tihe south. ¥he
Troupeville Road is now the Nashville and
Valdosta Road by the home of the late

Jack Moore, the New Lois School, and the
home of Des Je. Gaskins. one of the prescnt
Board of County Commissionerse

(7) The Nashville and Moultrie Road from
Nashville to the Robert W. Parrish Ferry on
Little River by the way of the present
site of the town of Adel, the county
scat of Cook County,

(8) The Nashville and “ouglas Road northeast
from Nashville to the Alapaha Riwver near
the residence of the Late William Gaskins,
fathor of the late Jimmie Gaskinse

(9) From the residence of the late Charles
J. O'Nsal wostward to the Jacob Kinard
Bridge on Little River.

(10) The Big Crecek and Indian Ford Ferry Road
from Milltown northeast through the
settlements of the Registers, Sirmons,
Spelle, Fenders and Guth rics to connect
with the Nashville and Indian Ford Road
at the Indian Ford Ferry on the Alapaha
River.,

Jhe Ferries

The Forrics of the early days were as follows:

(1) The T yson Ferry, the Marsh Ferry and the
Indian Ford Ferry on the Alapaha River.

(2) The Banks Foerry, The Clarks Ferry and
the Robert W. Ferry on the Little River

(3) The Thomas Futch Ferry on the Withlacoochee
River.

These ferries were estcblished by the carly settlers of
south Georgia as necsssary moans of travel and transportation.
They wore csteblished betwsen tho years 1820 and 1835 as the
travel and development of thce newly settled country made it
necessary., The Tyson end Marsh Ferrics were establishcd
botwoen 1820 snd 1825 to accomodate the influx of immigrants
from Wilkinson, Weshington, Bullock Emaniel and other northorn
and middle covnties of the State, as well as from Virginia,
North Carolina and South Carolina.
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The Indian Ford Ferry was e¢stablished about the year 1830
50 take care of local Conditions and the incoming of immigrants
-rom the eastern counties of the State,

The ferries on Little River were established along the years
1825 to 1835 to aid loecal intercourse and to asist immigrants
westward to new territory.

The Futch Ferry was established in the year 1823 for local
convenience and to help along the steady filow of emigrants south-
ward in search of open range for théir immenss herds &f sheep
and cattle, This ferry was kept by Thomas Futch, The grandfather
of W Te Futch who owns and resides at the old Futch home near
the Futch Bridge built in 1883 to take the place of the old
Futeh Ferry which had so long and faithfully served local
conditions and the travelling public under the vigilant watchcare
of its faithful owner, Thomas Futech-- The venerable Withlacoochee
Ferry-man.

The Schools

Sehool fecilities in the early history of Berrlen County
were Very meager, -

The DuBignion School House was constructed at Milltown, now
Lakeland, in the year 1858, by the town and community and the
Masonic Fraternity just as was done at Nashville; and for the
same purposes--both houses built practically alike-- the upper
chamber for a Masonic Lodge, named the Milltown Lodge~=- the
lower chamber named the DuBignionfinatitute, in honor of J. H.
Du3ignion of North Carolina, a man high in the estimation of the
Carrolls, who had just settled in Milltown from North Carolina,

The fivat teocher in the DUBipnion Institufe wes Re As
Baxter, a young man Trom Atlanta.

What Miles Mathis was to the MePhserson Academy of Nashville,
R. A, Baxter was to the DuBignion Institute of Milltown. Both
were young men; both gr“duat 8 of the University of Georgia; both
signed their positions #n the respective schools to answer the
I of the State of Georgia to take part in the €ivil Wore-
his was killed ag stated elsewhere and it is not known to us
t became of Baxter, It is known tbat both sowed sesd in these
chools Whlﬂh gsprang up in-the lives of their pupids gfter the
Civil War that bore fruit to their 111ustrious names.

014 Stone Wall School, south of Adel now is, under the able
leadership of John A. Money, the first Tex Receiver of Berrien
Cocunty, did 2 great work for the boys and girls in that section
in the antebellum days

Martin ¥, “nllcr st an able and noted teacher--he taught
nst of Nashville in the settlements of the Giddens, Watsons,
klns, and Griffins. He also resignad to take part in the Civil
« He returned from the war and married Mrs, Memima Jones,
low of Henry Jones, who was killed in the ClVll War., He taught
er the war. The late W, Honry Griifin received his earily
spi rﬁtwon from Mr, Miller, which made him the useful man he
was to Berrien County. Mr. Miller was an eccentriec man, but an
able teacher. Most of his teaching was in dirt floor school
houses.
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Therc were other little schools scattered through the county,
but with all these, the great mass of the pcople lay in illiteracy.
Eighty per cent of the age eligibles for the Civil War service
wore illiterates. But amongall this illitcracy, & numbecr of boys
~nceivaed inspiration from these early teachers that made thocm
colossal powers in our day--in legislative, judicial and litorary
circles. A few of the names gpe: Hon Jonathan D. Knight, a noted
teacher and who served more terms in the House and Senate of the
Legislature of Georgia than any other man- in the County (he died
while Senator); Hon, Lacy E., Lastinger, & noted teached, lawyer
and judge of the Court; Hon, W. He Griffin, a noted teacher,
lawver, member of the legislaturc, and a judge; Hon, flenry B.
Pecples, a successful lawyer, judge and senator; Hon. Henry H.
Knight, a sucgesgiul merchant and Senator,

This closes my effort to leave to the future generations of
Berrion County a brief history of the Early Days of our County.

My effort, though weak, Has been conscientious and painstaking.

1f the effort meets, even in a small degree, the expectation of
its peaders, I shall be thereby amply compcnsated for the pleasant
labor bestowed on its prcparation.

AL L NLALAL AL e A S AR A e A AL AL AL M SSRGS AL S b
P T LR i e L o D A A e e s AR R A R A LR P i D D D AR N )

A Partial List of ¥ames of Antcbcllum Settlers of Berrion County

Lee, Register, Patten, Studstill,Parrish, Tyson, McMillan,
Giddeny Carroll, Howcll, Williams, Cartcr, Fender, Wilkinson,
Sirmons, Watson, Clcments, Boyott, Baskins, Chisholm, Paulk,
Sncad, Mathis, Coock, Sutton, May, Ray, Shaw, Knight, Moorec,
Lastinger, Crosby, Guthric, Talley. Hendley, Grincr, Gaskins,
Tuckor, Lovejoy, Kirby, Futch, Fountain, Webb, Allen, Wecaver,
Swindle, Roberts, Exum, Goodman, Dobson, Pccples, Sweat, Parr,
Vickers, Vieckery, Woodard, Bakor, Kinard, Pattcrson, Rentz,
Lovett, Hutchinsén, Dces, Rutherford, Hancock, Hall, Nix, Duff,
Rird, Lily, Albritton, ovcrstrect, Castleberry, DeVane, McDonald,
Morris, Joncs, Garrctt, Dixon, Rowe, Ford, Griffin, Lindscy,
Turner, Kirkland, Bostick, Bailey, Bradford, Brogdon, Murray,
Hughes, Harper, Fletcher, VMeKinnon, MeDermind, Bragdon, Swain,
Hcoster, Connell, Warrcn, Smith, Newbern, Basters, Moncy, Matthews,
King, Mobley, Swilley, Goldens, Bullard, Parramore, Grady, Lamb ,
Hewett, Kelley, Bryant, 2eneficld, Lonkford, Johnson, Stones,
Edenficld, Cox, Walkcr, Drawdy, Peacock, Brandon, Hardy, Faulkner,
Brown, Boldrie, Boyd, Beantley, Rhoden, Purvis, Boykin, Clyatt,
Browning, Robinson, Nclson, wilkes, Tygurt, Lewis, Akins, Avera,
Rowcngs Taylore. - -
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